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Diagrams - England

This diagram shows an example of  structures and processes in two-tier areas. There is obviously flexibility 
within these arrangements, but it demonstrates how the structures should enable district level priorities to 
both feed into and be informed by the Local Area Agreement (LAA). It also demonstrates how the county-
level group can facilitate closer working between district community safety partnerships.

The below diagram shows an example of  structures and processes in a unitary area. There is obviously 
flexibility within these arrangements but it demonstrates how the structures should enable priorities to 
both feed into and be informed by the Local Area Agreement (LAA).  
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J: Information Sharing Regulations
Details of  the information sets that must be shared on at least a quarterly basis are given below. In each 
case, the duty applies to information relating to the partnership area as defined by the district or unitary 
authority area. This duty only applies when the authority holds the information so it does not require the 
collection of  any additional information. The purpose of  sharing this information is to enable the profiling 
of  crime and disorder trends and patterns within the area. For this reason, in most cases, it is the record 
level data that is specified rather than aggregate data or statistics. Analysis can then take place across a 
number of  different datasets on at least a quarterly basis.

Organisation Datasets (for the area)
Police force 1. Records on anti-social behaviour, transport and public safety/welfare incidents 

recorded according to the National Incident Category List. Whatever information is 
recorded about the time, date, location and category of  each incident must be 
disclosed.  

2. Crime records recorded according to the Notifiable Offences list. Whatever 
information is recorded about the time, date, location and sub-category of  each crime 
must be disclosed.

Fire and rescue 
authority

3. Records on deliberate fires, whether it was a deliberate primary fire (not in a 
vehicle), a deliberate secondary fire (not in a vehicle) or a deliberate fire in a vehicle. 
In addition, records on incidents of  violence against employees and records of  
fires attended in dwellings where no smoke alarm was fitted. For all these records, 
whatever information is recorded about the time, date and location of  the fire must 
be shared. 

4. Records on malicious false alarms. Whatever information is recorded about the 
time and date of  each call and the purported location of  those alarms must be 
shared.

Local authority 5. Records on road traffic collisions. Whatever information is recorded about the 
time, date, location and the number of  adults and children killed, seriously injured 
and slightly injured in each road traffic collision must be shared.

6. Records on fixed term and permanent school exclusions. Whatever 
information is held about the age and gender of  the pupil, the name and address of  
the school from which they were excluded and the reasons for their exclusion must 
be shared. 

7.  Records of  racial incidents. Whatever information is held about the time, date 
and location of  each incident must be shared.

8. Records of  anti-social behaviour incidents identified by the authority or 
reported by the public. Whatever information is held about the category, time, date 
and location of  each incident must be shared.
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Organisation Datasets (for the area)
Primary Care 
Trust (lying 
entirely or partly 
in the area)

9. Records on various categories of  hospital admissions. The relevant admissions 
are those relating to the following blocks within the International Classification of  
Diseases: 

 a) assault (X85-Y09); 

 b) mental and behavioural disorders due to psychoactive substance use (F10- 
 F19);

 c) toxic effect of  alcohol (T51); and

 d) other entries where there is evidence of  alcohol involvement determined by  
 blood alcohol level (Y90) or evidence of  alcohol involvement determined by  
 level of  intoxication (Y91).For each record, whatever information is held about  
 the date of  the admission, the sub-category of  the admission and the outward  
 part of  the postcode (the first part of  the postcode, before the space which  
 separates it from the second part) of  the patient’s address must be shared.

10. Records of  admissions to hospital in respect of domestic abuse. Whatever 
information is held about the date of  the admission and the outward part of  the 
postcode of  the patient’s address must be shared.

11. Numbers of  mental illness outpatient first attendances and persons 
receiving drug treatment. 

12. Records of  ambulance call outs to crime and disorder incidents. Whatever 
information is held about the category, time, date and location of  each ambulance call 
out must be shared.    
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K: Worked Example
How the new business process might work:

Leadership established at district and county level.

Information-sharing Protocol agreed and signed by all responsible 
authorities and other agencies.

Information Shared, both depersonalised information sets included in new legislation, 
information gathered from community and additional information.

 

Community consulted about their priorities.

Strategic Assessment conducted to identify crime issues.

Priorities identified, for e.g. street crime, and escalated to county-level group in two-tier areas – 
passed to Local Strategic Partnership for possible inclusion in Local Area Agreement.

Partnership Plan produced to outline how to deliver on priorities in coming year and 
three years, e.g. accessing funding through Local Area Agreement (Safer and Stronger Communities and 
other blocks).

Summary of Partnership Plan published, outlining steps that will be taken 
to deliver on priorities and consult communities.

Delivery Structure considered, e.g. setting up an action group to deal with street crime, 
or city centre issues.
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Further Analysis of  individual priorities, using depersonalised and personal information 
shared between partners, to further define the problem and establish baselines e.g. the street crime, action 
group may identify that students walking along a particular street in the evening are one group of  victims 
and that the majority of  offenders are already known within the criminal justice system.

Tactical Options considered e.g. the street crime, action group may consider running an 
information campaign through the local university, focusing on rehabilitation of  offenders once they are 
released from prison, or improving street-lighting. The solutions are chosen will depend on the precise 
problems identified through analysis, but should consider the role that can be played by other agencies, 
including those from the criminal justice system.

Governance within the action group agreed e.g. deciding responsibility for actions, a meeting 
structure, 6 monthly and annual targets and how to report to relevant partners.

Evaluation of  initiatives on an ongoing basis to ensure real improvements e.g. reductions in 
street crime, and ensuring crime is not simply being displaced elsewhere.

Leadership within partnership to monitor progress on reductions in street crime, e.g. 
considering number of  street crime, incidents at quarterly meetings, involving representatives of  the 
criminal justice agencies at meetings.

Strategic Assessment following year to reassess priorities e.g to identify whether 
street crime, should still be a priority.

Refresh Partnership Plan outlining what will be done to address new priorities, 
e.g. whether more will be done to address street crime.

Publish Summary of Plan in order to report back to community on progress 
e.g. reductions in street crime.
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Hallmark Case Study Page 
Empowered & 
Effective Leadership

East Sussex - Merging the DAAT and County Community Safety 
Support Teams

26

Hounslow CDRP – working with NOMS / ROMS 29
Wrexham and Flintshire CSP – Joint Action Groups (JAGs) 89
Safer Southwark Partnership – Camberwell Street Drinking Initiative 96

Intelligence-led 
Business Processes

Safer Southwark Partnership – The Partnership Operations Group 
(POG) 

41

Coventry Consortium of  Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) & 
Coventry CDRP

39

Dudley CSP - Using information from the Fire Services 55
Birmingham CSP -Analysing intelligence to determine priorities 64
Cornwall and the Isles of  Scilly Community Safety Partnership - 
Producing a strategic assessment that works at both county and 
CDRP-level 

69

Preston CSP – Preventing alcohol-related crime 87
Safer Southwark Partnership – Camberwell Street Drinking Initiative 96
Humberside Association of  Neighbourhood Watch Groups - 
Community Problem Solving Kit

99

Hounslow CSP - A problem-solving project with built in evaluation 
processes

104

Safer Middlesbrough Partnership (SMP) 105
Effective & 
Responsive Delivery 
Structures

Hounslow CDRP – working with NOMS / ROMS 29

West Sussex County – Successful and supportive County/District 
relationships

40

Safer Southwark Partnership – The Partnership Operations Group 
(POG) 

41

Wrexham and Flintshire CSP – Joint Action Groups 89
Humberside Association of  Neighbourhood Watch Groups – 
Community Problem Solving Kit

99

L: Index of Case Studies
This table will help you identify where relevant case studies are for each of  the Hallmarks of  an Effective 
Partnership.



137

Hallmark Case Study Page 
Engaged 
Communities

Liverpool - Respect Weeks of  Action 47

Preston CSP – Preventing alcohol-related crime 87
Barking & Dagenham – “Focus Weeks” in the Gascoigne Estate 92
North Somerset CDRP - Sparkplug Projects 93
Safer Southwark Partnership – Camberwell Street Drinking Initiative 96
Humberside Association of  Neighbourhood Watch Groups – 
Community Problem Solving Kit

99

Hounslow CSP - A problem-solving project with built in evaluation 
processes

104

Visible & 
Constructive 
Accountability

Policing summaries in Leicestershire - Communicating plans to the 
public

83

Safer Southwark Partnership – Camberwell Street Drinking Initiative 96
Appropriate Skills 
and Knowledge

Safer Blaenau Gwent – Developing local training products 32

North East - ISCAN - Internal Review of  Services and Skills 33
Coventry Consortium of  Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) & 
Coventry CDRP

39
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Appendices
A: List of additional resources
Strategy Regulations
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2007/20071830.htm
Information Sharing Regulations
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2007/20071831.htm

General Community Safety Websites 
Source Name Description Location
Home Office Crime Reduction 

website
Home Office website aimed at practitioners to help 
them achieve and sustain reductions in crime and 
disorder. Interactive resource where practitioners, 
policy-makers and others can find guidance of  good 
practice and share ideas and solutions.

 http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk

Ideas Exchange Crime Reduction 
website

An Effective Practice Database housed on the Crime 
Reduction Website, containing examples of  projects 
from across the country as a resource for practitioners 
and partnerships developing their plans. 

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/iex 

National 
Community Safety 
Network (NCSN)

National 
Community Safety 
Network website

Website for the NCSN, a practitioner-led organisation 
supporting those involved in promoting community 
safety/crime reduction throughout the UK. Provides 
news, information, research, best practice, web links 
and job vacancies.

www.community-safety.net

Renewal.net Renewal.net 
website

Online guide to neighbourhood renewal, including 
how-to-guides, case studies, project summaries, 
toolkits, events, discussion forums and useful links.

www.renewal.net 

Audit Commission Audit 
Commission: 
Community Safety

Reports, inspection reports, performance indicators, 
tools and links related to community safety.

www.audit-commission.gov.
uk/subject.asp?CategoryID

Improvement and 
Development 
Agency (IDeA)

IDeA: Safer and 
Stronger 
Communities

IDeA Knowledge works for local government 
improvement by providing news and examples of  
good practice from councils across England and Wales. 
This section of  the website provides community safety 
information.

http://www.idea.gov.uk/
idk/core/page.
do?pageId=448290 

Improvement and 
Development 
Agency (IDeA) - 
Performance 
Management in 
Partnership

Performance 
Management in 
Partnership 
website

IDeA-sponsored community of  practice space for 
Performance Management in Partnership, with links to 
resources, tools and guidance which can help in 
performance management in partnership. 

http://pmpartner.editme.
com/

Local Government 
Association  (LGA)

LGA: Community 
Safety

The LGA promotes the interests of  local governments 
in England and Wales. This section of  the website 
provides information on community safety.

http://www.lga.gov.uk/
OurWork.asp?lsection=59
&ccat=870 
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Specific Initiative Websites
Source Name Description Location
Home Office Neighbourhood 

Watch
Part of  the Crime Reduction website, this is the official 
Neighbourhood Watch website containing news, 
information, documents and useful links relating to the 
Neighbourhood Watch programme.

www.neighbourhoodwatch.gov.
uk.com 

Home Office Drug Action 
Teams (DAT)

Information to help partnerships, Drug Action Teams 
(DATs) and CDRPs/CSPs carry out their work, 
including news and events, information on the drug 
strategy, guidance, newsletters and useful links.

www.drugs.gov.uk/dat/ 

Home Office Drug Intervention 
Programmes 
(DIP)

Information on the Drugs Intervention Programme 
(DIP) including the drugs strategy, news and events, 
guidance, case studies and publications.

www.drugs.gov.uk/drug-
interventions-programme/

Home Office Prolific and other 
Priority Offenders 
(PPO)

Guidance, reports, good practice and case studies on 
the Prolific and other Priority Offender (PPO) scheme.

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/ppo/
ppominisite09.htm

Home Office Citizen Focus Information on the Citizen Focus commitment under 
the Police Reform Programme, including citizen-
focused policing, neighbourhood policing, community 
safety accreditation, and local policing summaries. 
Contains guidance and case studies.

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/police-reform/reform-
programme/citizen-focus

Home Office Domestic Violence 
mini-site

Section of  the Crime Reduction website that provides 
information on domestic violence.

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/dv/dv01.
htm 

Communities and 
Local Government 
(CLG)

Together We Can Website for the government campaign to bring 
government and the people closer together. The site 
aims to provide sources of  help including 
organisations, sources of  funding, and advice.

http://togetherwecan.direct.
gov.uk 

Communities and 
Local Government 
(CLG)

Cleaner Greener 
Safer Communities

Campaign to create quality spaces in which people 
want to live and can be proud of, which others will 
respect. Contains information on working in 
partnership, powers and tools available and innovative 
approaches and good practice.

www.cleanersafergreener.gov.
uk 

Communities and 
Local Government 
(CLG)

Arson Control 
Forum

The Arson Control Forum was created in April 2001 as 
a Government-led national body seeking to reduce 
arson-related deaths, injuries and damage. It brings 
together stakeholders such as the fire and rescue 
service, local authorities, the police service, insurance 
companies and government departments.

http://www.communities.gov.
uk/fire/arsonreduction/
arsoncontrolforum/

Ministry of  Justice 
(MoJ)

Community Justice Part of  the Government’s agenda to tackle anti-social 
behaviour and the crime associated with it, bringing 
courts and the criminal justice system closer to the 
communities they serve. Contains news, media 
publications and useful links.

www.communityjustice.gov.uk 

Ministry of  Justice 
(MoJ)  – National 
Offender 
Management 
Service (NOMS)

National Reducing 
Re-offending 
Delivery Plan

The plan, launched in November 2005, outlines the 
Government commitment to reduce re-offending by 
improving offenders’ access to mainstream services 
such as accommodation.

http://noms.justice.gov.uk/
news-publications-events/
publications/strategy/
reducing-reoffend-delivery-
plan/reducing-reoffending-del
ivery?view=Standard&pubI
D=380988

Ministry of  Justice 
(MoJ)  – National 
Offender 
Management 
Service (NOMS)

Regional Reducing 
Re-offending 
Delivery Plan

The nine regions in England, and Wales, have all 
developed strategies to take forward work on the 
pathways, with appropriate regional partners leading 
work on each of  the strands through their Regional 
Reducing Re-offending Partnership Boards

http://noms.justice.gov.uk/
noms-regions/ 

Department for 
Children, Schools 
and Families 
(DCSF)

Respect Task 
Force

Central government, local agencies and citizens 
working together to tackled anti-social behaviour. 
Contains handbook, resources and good practice.

www.respect.gov.uk

Department for 
Transport (DfT)

Withinreach DfT sponsored programme providing training and 
advice concerning accessibility planning. Contains 
guidance, toolkits, news, and useful links.

www.witihin-reach.org.uk
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Specific Initiative Websites
Source Name Description Location
Ministry of  Justice 
(MoJ)  – National 
Offender 
Management 
Service (NOMS)

Multi-Agency 
Public Protection 
Arrangements 
(MAPPA)

General information on Multi-Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), including links to 
MAPPA guidance and reports. 

www.noms.justice.gov.uk/
protecting-the-public/
Supervision/mappa

National Police 
Improvement 
Agency (NPIA)

Neighbourhood 
Policing 
Programme

Information on the Neighbourhood Policing 
Programme, including guidance, practical advice, FAQs 
and useful links.

www.neighbourhoodpolicing.
co.uk 

Local Government 
Association (LGA)

Reducing 
Offending and Re-
offending 
Programme with 
the National 
Offender 
Management 
Service (NOMS)

Joint project between the LGA and NOMS that seeks 
to identify the potential benefits to local government 
and communities from closer working with 
correctional services, both probation and prisons and 
develop new relationships between correctional 
services and local government. Includes information 
on Community Payback.

http://www.lga.gov.uk/
ProjectHome.asp?lsection=5
9&ccat=946 

Communities and 
Local Government  
(CLG)

Neighbourhood 
Renewal Unit

Responsible for overseeing the Government’s 
comprehensive neighbourhood renewal strategy. 
Includes information on cross-sector regeneration 
programmes (New Deal for Communities, 
Neighbourhood Management, Neighbourhood 
Wardens, and business involvement in regeneration).

www.neighbourhood.gov.uk/
page.asp?id=3

Communities and 
Local Government  
(CLG)

New Deal for 
Communities 
(NDC)

Key programme in tackling multi-deprivation in the 
most deprived neighbourhoods. Contains information 
on areas where grants have been approved, how-to-
guides, information on the Streetgames programme 
and contact lists.

www.neighbourhood.gov.uk/
page.asp?id=617

Communities and 
Local Government  
(CLG) - 
Neighbourhood 
Renewal Unit

Neighbourhood 
Management

The Neighbourhood Management Pathfinder 
programme is a process involving communities 
working with local agencies to improve services at 
neighbourhood level.

Neighbourhood management aims to tackle quality of  
life (“liveability”) issues in communities through better 
management of  the local environment; increasing 
community safety; improving housing stock; working 
with young people; and encouraging employment 
opportunities

.http://www.neighbourhood.
gov.uk/page.asp?id=577 

The National 
Travelwise 
Association and 
Living Streets

Walk to School 
Campaign

A campaign that asks parents, pupils and teachers to 
think about their journey to and from school, and how 
making this journey on foot can mitigate against 
reduced physical activity among children, increased 
childhood obesity, urban congestion and air pollution.

http://www.walktoschool.
org.uk/ 

Improvement and 
Development 
Agency (IDeA)

Public space 
legislation resource

Providing a quick and easy point of  reference for 
practitioners who want to find out what legislation is 
on the statute book in relation to all elements of  open 
space management.

http://www.idea.gov.uk/
idk/core/page.
do?pageId=78105 

Audit Commission 
and Improvement 
and Development 
Agency (IDeA)

Library of  local 
performance 
indicators: 
Community safety

An electronic library providing a source of  ‘ready 
made’ performance indicators that you can adopt on a 
voluntary basis. All the indicators included in the 
electronic library have standard definitions to enable 
comparison where appropriate.

http://www.local-pi-library.
gov.uk/LIBRARY_
ALL_PIS.
ASP?MENUID=502 

Cabinet Office Office of  the 
Third Sector

Information about working with the third sector, 
including VCS development and community 
participation initiatives.

www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/
third_sector/index.asp

Welsh Assembly 
Government

Topic: Community 
Safety

Website containing information and useful links on 
community safety in Wales. 

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/
housingandcommunity/
safety/?lang=en 
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Non-Governmental Websites 
Source Name Description Location
Victim Support Victim Support 

website
Victim Support is the independent charity which helps 
people cope with the effects of  crime providing free 
and confidential support and information to help 
victims deal with their experiences. 

http://www.victimsupport.
org.uk/ 

Crime Concern Crime Concern 
website

Crime Concern is a national crime prevention charity 
offering crime prevention and offender justice services. 

Crime Concern works largely, but not exclusively, with 
young people, providing routes away from crime and 
anti-social behaviour and back into full-time education 
and employment.

http://www.crimeconcern.
org.uk/ 

Crimestoppers Crimestoppers 
website

Crimestoppers is an independent UK-wide charity 
working to stop crime. The charity operates across the 
UK to help identify, prevent, solve and reduce crime. 

http://www.crimestoppers-
uk.org/ 

University College 
London – Jill 
Dando Institute of  
Crime Science

Jill Dando Institute 
website

The UCL Jill Dando Institute of  Crime Science is the 
first in the world devoted specifically to reducing crime, 
through teaching, research, public policy analysis and 
by the dissemination of  evidence-based information 
on crime reduction. 

http://www.jdi.ucl.ac.uk/ 

NACRO NACRO website NACRO is an independent voluntary organisation 
working to prevent crime. Nacro has six main areas of  
work: resettlement, housing, education and 
employment, activities for young people, community 
and family schemes and finding better ways to reduce 
crime. 

http://www.nacro.org.uk/ 

The London Drug 
and Alcohol 
Network (LDAN) 
and Alcohol 
Concern

Local Alcohol 
Strategy Toolkit

A toolkit designed to help local policy makers and 
strategists in developing local responses to alcohol 
problems. It sets out a process for the work, and gives 
guidance on each step of  the way.

http://www.
localalcoholstrategies.org.uk/ 

Skills for Justice National 
Occupational 
Standards

This website has details and information on the Skills 
for Justice national occupational standards.

http://www.skillsforjustice.
com/nos/home.htm

Centre for Public 
Scrutiny (CfPS)

Centre for Public 
Scrutiny (CfPS) 
website

The Centre for Public Scrutiny was created to promote 
the value of  scrutiny in modern and effective 
government – not only to hold executives to account 
but also to create a constructive dialogue between the 
public and its elected representatives – to improve the 
quality of  public services.

http://www.cfps.org.uk/

Social Research 
Association (SRA)

SRA website The Social Research Association plays a unique role as 
an organisation open to social research practitioners 
and trainees from all sectors, as well as others with an 
interest in social research.

http://www.the-sra.org.uk/

UK Evaluation 
Society

UK Evaluation 
Society website

The UK Evaluation Society exists to promote and 
improve the theory, practice, understanding and 
utilisation of  evaluation and its contribution to public 
knowledge and to promote cross-sector and cross-
disciplinary dialogue and debate. 

http://www.evaluation.org.
uk/

Charities 
Evaluation Services

Charities 
Evaluation 
Services website

Charities Evaluation Services is the UK’s leading 
provider of  information and advice on quality and 
evaluation systems for the voluntary sector.

http://www.ces-vol.org.uk/
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Related Guidance and useful websites 
Source Name Description Location
Home Office – 
Drug Action Teams 
(DAT)

Audit Annex B Suggestions on data sources that partnerships might 
consider during the strategic assessment process to 
ensure that the drugs element is based on an accurate 
assessment of  the extent and nature of  local misuse of  
drugs.

www.drugs.gov.uk/
publication-search/drug-
strategy/audit-annex-b.pdf

Home Office - 
Community 
Policing

Citizen-focused 
Good Practice 
Guide

Guidance on techniques that forces can use to improve 
user satisfaction and confidence. Guide has 
experiences of  forces across the country, includes case 
studies, and interactive links. 

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/community-policing/
citizen-focused-policing/
citizen-focus-guide-launched

Home Office – 
Drug Action Teams 
(DAT)

Audit Annex B Suggestions on data sources that partnerships might 
consider during the strategic assessment process to 
ensure that the drugs element is based on an accurate 
assessment of  the extent and nature of  local misuse of  
drugs.

www.drugs.gov.uk/
publication-search/drug-
strategy/audit-annex-b.pdf

Home Office – 
Drug Action Teams 
(DAT and Drug 
Interventions 
Programme (DIP) 

Drug Strategy: 
Workforce 
Planning

Overview of  the Workforce Development Plan to 
ensure that there is a sufficient number of  competent 
staff  to deliver the objectives of  the Drug Strategy and 
ensure that substance misuse is mainstreamed.

www.drugs.gov.uk/drug-
strategy/workforce-planning/
overview-and-strat/

Home Office - 
Community 
Policing

Tactical Plan 
Guidance: 
Managing 
Neighbourhood 
Policing through 
the National 
Intelligence 
Model

Guidance on integrating problem-solving and 
enforcement activity of  Neighbourhood Policing 
Teams with the Tasking and Coordination Group 
process thereby maximising the use of  NIM Tactical 
Options. Also designed for use by multi-agency 
policing teams and tasking processes.

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/news-and-publications/
publication/community-
policing/2006-3-21-
Tactical_Plan.pdf

Home Office iQuanta iQuanta is an internet-based analysis tool developed by 
the Police and Crime Standards Directorate to turn 
statistical data routinely collected by the Home Office 
into useful outputs for understanding and improving 
policing performance at partnership level and above. 
Access to iQuanta is provided to police forces, police 
authorities and members of  partnerships.

https://iquanta.net/
Default.aspx?tabid=27 

Home Office Guide to using 
iQuanta 

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/performance-and-
measurement/iquanta/ 

Home Office - 
Citizen Focus

A Practical Guide 
to Local Policing 
Summaries

Gives police authorities and forces details of  the 
minimum standards that all summaries are required to 
meet. Includes technical guidance on design and 
copyright.

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/news-and-publications/
publication/police-reform/
Police_summaries_Guide.
pdf

Home Office - 
Citizen Focus

Local Policing 
Summaries: Good 
Practice Guide to 
Maximise Impact

Guidance on how forces can maximise the impact of  
Local Policing Summaries

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/news-and-publications/
publication/police-reform/L
ocalPolicingGoodPractice

Home Office National Plan for 
Domestic 
Violence

A national action plan that sets out the progress made 
so far in tackling domestic violence and outlines future 
proposals to further improve support to victims and 
bring more perpetrators to justice.

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/
domesticviolence/
domesticviolence51.htm 

Home Office National 
Community 
Safety Plan

The NCSP sets out the Government’s community 
safety priorities for 2006-2009. It outlines a new 
approach to community safety and aims to manage a 
coherent community safety programme across 
Government, providing people working in the field 
with a clear view of  overall priorities.

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/
communitysafety01.htm 



114

Related Guidance and useful websites 
Source Name Description Location
Home Office Crime & Disorder 

Reduction 
Partnerships and 
Drug Action 
Team 
Integration/
Closer Working

This guidance issued in November 2003 outlines what 
measures CDRPs and DATs should take to integrate or 
work more closely together

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/
integration.htm

Home Office What Crime & 
Disorder 
Activities Fall 
Within the Remit 
of  the Crime & 
Disorder Act1998

This weblink discusses what can date should be shared 
for crime & disorder purposes.

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/toolkits/
ui0307.htm

Home Office The use of  
geographic 
information 
systems by crime 
analysts in 
England and 
Wales, HO Report 
03/07

This report presents findings from a survey to assess 
the extent to which GIS is used by crime analysts.

http://www.homeoffice.gov.
uk/rds/pdfs07/rdsolr0307.
pdf

Home Office Toolkit for 
community safety 
audit 

This toolkit on the Crime Reduction Website gives 
guidance on how to conduct a crime & disorder audit

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/toolkits/
p031801.htm

Home Office Crime Reduction 
Website - Routine 
Activity Theory

This website explains the theory behind RAT http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/
learningzone/rat.htm

Home Office Crime Reduction 
website - SARA 
model

This page on the CRW explains the SARA problem 
solving model with links for further information

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/
learningzone/sara.htm

Home Office Crime Reduction 
website - 
PROCTOR 
model

This page on the CRW explains the PROCTOR 
problem solving model with links for further 
information

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/skills/
skills05.htm

Home Office Crime Reduction 
Website - Passport 
to evaluation

This was devised by the Home Office. It looks at the 
basic techniques used to evaluate crime reduction 
projects.

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/
learningzone/passport_to_
evaluation.htm

Home Office Crime Reduction 
Website - Tilley 
Awards

The Tilley Award, funded by the Home Office, was set 
up in 1999 to encourage and recognise excellence in 
crime reduction using problem-oriented principles.

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/tilley/
tilleyawards2007.htm

Home Office APACS - 
Assessment of  
Policing and 
Community 
Safety

This page on the Police Reform website has details of  
the new assessment framework for partnerships.

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/performance-and-
measurement/assess-policing-
community-safety/

Department for 
Transport  (DfT)

Accessibility 
Planning: 
Guidance

Guidance for local authorities on dealing with 
accessibility planning as part of  their Local Transport 
Plans.

www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/
regional/ltp/accessibility/
guidance/gap/ 

Department for 
Children, Schools 
and Families 
(DCSF) 

The RESPECT 
Handbook: A 
Guide for Local 
Services

Identifies the key principles that underpin the 
programme and the key features of  service delivery to 
help meet the programme’s goals. Designed to help 
local implementation.

www.respect.go.uk/members/
article.aspx?id=9764

Every Child Matters Information 
sharing guidance 
for children’s 
practitioners

This website provides useful guidance on info sharing 
for those professionals dealing with children.

http://www.
everychildmatters.gov.uk/
deliveringservices/
informationsharing/

National Probation 
Service (NPS)

Multi-Agency 
Public Protection 
Arrangements 
(MAPPA)

Guidance on MAPPA, including statutory duties, 
MAPPA framework and good practice.

www.probation.homeoffice.
gov.uk/files/pdf/
MAPPA%20Guidance.pdf
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Related Guidance and useful websites 
Source Name Description Location
Ministry of  Justice 
– Office for 
Criminal Justice 
Reform (OCJR)

Citizen Focus – A 
Practical Guide to 
Improving Police 
Follow-up with 
Victims and 
Witnesses

Provides practical advice on improving police 
performance provided to victims and witnesses.

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/news-and-publications/
publication/police-reform/
CF-victimsandwitnesses.pdf

Ministry of  Justice 
– National Offender 
Management 
Service

Civic Society 
Alliance Toolkit - 
Local Solutions to 
Reduce Re-
offending by 
Adult and Young 
Offenders

A toolkit, showing how local authorities and local 
partners can develop a Civic Society Alliance to reduce 
re-offending

www.lg-em.gov.uk/
civicalliancetoolkit

Association of  
Chief  Police 
Officers (ACPO) 
and the National 
Centre for Policing 
Excellence

Guidance on the 
management of  
police information 
(2006)

Guidance describing the processes that support the 
principles set out in the statutory code of  practice on 
the management of  police information developed by 
the Home Secretary under the Police Act 1996. 

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/news-and-publications/
publication/operational-
policing/Bichard_-_MoPI_
Guidance_INT2.
pdf?view=Binary 

National Police 
Improvement 
Agency (NPIA) - 
Neighbourhood 
Policing Programme

Neighbourhood 
Policing 
Partnership Guide

Information for community safety partners on the 
Neighbourhood Policing Programme, including 
advantages of  joint working and case studies.

www.neighbourhoodpolicing.
co.uk/publication.asp

National 
Practitioner Panel 
for Community 
Engagement in 
Policing

Community 
Engagement in 
Policing Guide

This Guide has been developed as a resource for a 
cross section of  policing practitioners. Supported by a 
database of  effective practice.

http://www.
communityengagement.police.
uk/workspace/guide/index.
htm

Local Government 
Association (LGA)

Neighbourhood 
by 
neighbourhood: 
local action to 
reduce re-
offending

Report that outlines how local organisations with local 
knowledge are best placed to work with the prison and 
probation services to reduce re-offending.

http://www.lga.gov.uk/
Publication.asp?lsection=59
&id=SXEF07-
A783DD34&ccat=946 

Local Government 
Association (LGA)

Partners against 
crime: a survey of  
local authority 
approaches to 
community safety

Results of  a survey of  authorities that took place in 
2001, highlighting the community safety work that 
local authorities are doing and partnership working. 
Contains case studies.

http://www.lga.gov.uk/
PublicationsList.asp?lsection
=761&ccat=28&

Local Government 
Association (LGA)

Checklist for local 
authorities in 
domestic violence 
partnership 
working

Appropriately prioritising work to tackle domestic 
violence is crucial - this checklist aims to help local 
authorities, within partnerships, work effectively to do 
this.

http://www.lga.gov.uk/
Publication.asp?lsection=59
&id=SXF6DE-
A7832FF7&ccat=967 

Improvement and 
Development 
Agency (IDeA)

Joint working in 
waste: final report

Findings and recommendations from the project, 
which examined how joint working between authorities 
on waste management can achieve improved 
performance and drive efficiency.

http://www.idea.gov.uk/
idk/aio/4821783 

Communities and 
Local Government 
(CLG)

NDC How-to-
guides

Guidance on applying for NDC finance, developing 
delivery plans, gathering baseline information and 
evaluating outcomes and milestones.

www.neighbourhood.gov.uk/
page.asp?id=619 

Association of  
Chief  Police 
Officers (ACPO) 
and the National 
Centre for Policing 
Excellence

Guidance on the 
National 
Intelligence 
Model (2005)

Guidance on the NIM business model for law 
enforcement, which all forces in England and Wales 
are required to implement to national minimum 
standards.

http://www.acpo.police.uk/
asp/policies/Data/
nim2005.pdf  
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Related Guidance and useful websites 
Source Name Description Location
Association of  
Chief  Police 
Officers (ACPO) 
and the National 
Centre for Policing 
Excellence

Practice Advice on 
Tasking and Co-
ordination (2006) 

Guidance on tasking and co-ordination within the 
National Intelligence Model business process.

http://www.acpo.police.uk/
asp/policies/Data/
TaskingandCo-ordination_
inter_11.09.06.pdf.

Association of  
Chief  Police 
Officers (ACPO)

Practice Advice on 
Resources and the 
People Assets of  
NIM (2007)

Guidance on the roles of  staff  that work within 
intelligence units within the National Intelligence 
Model business process.

http://www.acpo.police.uk/
asp/policies/Data/
resources_people_assets_
nim_17x08x07.pdf

Association of  
Chief  Police 
Officers (ACPO) 

Practice Advice on 
Analysis 
(forthcoming) 

Guidance on how and why analysis should be 
completed within the National Intelligence model.

http://www.acpo.police.uk/

Audit Commission, 
National Audit 
Office (NAO), 
Northern Ireland 
Audit Office 
(NIAO), Wales 
Audit Office, Audit 
Scotland 

Value For Money 
in public sector 
corporate services

A joint publication by the UK Public Sector Audit 
Agencies containing a set of  performance indicators 
for managing and understanding the performance and 
value for money of  public sector organisations’ 
Human Resources, Finance, Information and 
Communications Technology, Procurement and 
Estates functions.

http://www.public-audit-
forum.gov.uk/
performanceindictors.pdf  

Audit Commission Value for Money 
Toolkit 
(forthcoming)

A voluntary self-assessment web-based tool for 
partnerships to support improvement in financial 
management and value for money.

http://www.audit-
commission.gov.uk/.

Audit Commission Know your 
Communities 
toolkit

This website has a self  assessment on how well 
councils know their communities.

http://www.userfocus.audit-
commission.gov.uk/
KycHome.aspx

Audit Commission Compiling 
neighbourhood 
profiles - a guide 
for local agencies

The purpose of  this guide is to assist local agencies in:  
creating neighbourhood profiles under stage three of  
the five-stage framework for neighbourhood 
management of  crime and anti-social behaviour; and  
reviewing current neighbourhood level activity and 
resource use to determine how to obtain better value 
for money (VFM). 

http://www.audit-
commission.gov.uk/
neighbourhoodcrime/
profiling.asp

Home Office – 
Office for Criminal 
Justice Reform 
(OCJR)

CDRPs (CSPs) 
and LCJBs:
How to work 
together

Guidance written for practitioners working in 
partnerships and LCJBs, highlighting those areas 
where both these local partnerships have common 
interests and suggesting ways in which they might 
work together.

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/
partnerships67.htm

Information 
Commissioner’s 
Office (ICO)

Information 
Commissioner’s 
Office (ICO)

The Information Commissioner’s Office is the UK’s 
independent authority set up to promote access to 
official information and to protect personal 
information by promoting good practice, ruling on 
eligible complaints, providing information to 
individuals and organisations, and taking appropriate 
action when the law is broken. 
The ICO enforces and oversees the Data Protection 
Act, the Freedom of  Information Act, the 
Environmental Information Regulations, and the 
Privacy and Electronic Communications Regulations. 

http://www.ico.gov.uk/ 

Department of  
Health (DoH)

Alcohol Misuse 
Interventions: 
Guidance on 
developing a local 
programme of  
improvement

Guidance on developing and implementing 
programmes that can improve the care of  hazardous, 
harmful and dependent drinkers.

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/
Publicationsandstatistics/
Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_
4123297 
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Related Guidance and useful websites 
Source Name Description Location
NHS Wales The Wales Accord 

for the Sharing of  
Personal 
Information 
(WASPI)

The purpose of  this Accord is to enable service-
providing and other organisations directly concerned 
with the well being of  an individual to share 
information between them in a lawful and intelligent 
way.

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/
sites3/home.cfm?orgid=702

Communities 
Scotland

National 
Standards for 
Community 
Engagement

The Communities Scotland website has a section on 
community engagement which contains standards for 
CE.

www.communitiesscotland.
gov.uk

Ofsted Tellus 2 surveys This website offers information on Tellus2 surveys 
which can help to garner the views of  young people.

http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/
portal/site/Internet/

The Centre for 
Problem-Oriented 
Policing 

Website A source of  toolkits and guides about problem-
oriented policing.

http://www.popcenter.org/

Communities and 
Local Government 
(CLG)

Local Area 
Agreements

The CLG website has information on LAAs. http://www.communities.gov.
uk/localgovernment/perform
anceframeworkpartnerships/
localareaagreements/

Communities and 
Local Government 
(CLG)

Safer Stronger 
Communities 
Fund - Taking the 
agreements 
forward

This guidance explains the Safer Strong Communities 
Fund and how it feeds into LAAs

http://www.neighbourhood.
gov.uk/publications.
asp?did=1545

Communities and 
Local Government 
(CLG)

Safer Stronger 
Communities 
Fund - Indicators 
of  Strong 
Communities

This document gives the indicators for strong 
communities.

http://www.neighbourhood.
gov.uk/publications.
asp?did=1567
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White Papers and Strategies
Source Name Description Location
Home Office ‘Building 

Communities, 
Beating Crime’ 
White Paper 
(2004)

Police reform white paper published November 2004 http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/police-reform/white-
paper.html/?version=4 

Home Office Drug Strategy Information on the Drug Strategy, which aims to 
reduce the harm that drugs cause to society: to 
communities, individuals and their families.

http://www.drugs.gov.uk/
drug-strategy/ 

Home Office ‘Cutting Crime - a 
new partnership 
2008 - 11’

The Home Office crime strategy published July 2007 http://www.homeoffice.gov.
uk/documents/crime-
strategy-07/ 

Home Office Review of  the 
partnership 
provisions of  the 
Crime & Disorder 
Act 1998

The formal review of  the CDA 1998 carried out in 
2004-05

http://crimereduction.
homeoffice.gov.uk/
partnerships60.htm

Communities and 
Local Government  
(CLG)

‘Strong and 
prosperous 
communities’ 
White Paper 
(2006)

Local government white paper  published October 
2006

http://www.communities.gov.
uk/index.asp?id=1503999

Department of  
Health (DoH)

‘Choosing Health’ 
White Paper 
(2006)

Local health white paper published November 2004 http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/P
ublicationsandstatistics/
Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_
4094550 

Cabinet Office Alcohol Harm 
Reduction Strategy

This strategy sets out the Government’s strategy for 
tackling the harms and costs of  alcohol misuse in 
England.

http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.
uk/strategy/downloads/su/
alcohol/pdf/
CabOffce%20AlcoholHar.
pdf
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B: Neighbourhood Policing
The purpose of  Neighbourhood Policing is to deliver the right people, at the right places and in the right 
numbers, in order to create neighbourhoods that are safe and feel safe.  The Association of  Chief  Police 
Officers (ACPO) leads the Neighbourhood Policing Programme. The programme was established to 
support the achievement of  dedicated Neighbourhood Teams in all areas of  England and Wales by 2008 
and the target of  16,000 Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) by April 2007.

Neighbourhood Policing aims to provide communities with:

• Access – to policing or community safety services through a named point of  contact;
• Influence – over community safety priorities in their neighbourhood;
• Interventions – joint action with communities and partners to solve problems; and
• Answers – sustainable solutions to problems and feedback on results.

Whilst ‘neighbourhood’ generally describes a geographic area, there is no universal definition shared by all 
community safety partners.  Communities themselves also have widely differing views of  what constitutes 
their neighbourhood. For the purposes of  neighbourhood policing, a neighbourhood is defined through 
local agreement between communities, local authorities, police and partner organisations.

As each Neighbourhood Team is dedicated to a locally agreed geographic area, the size and composition 
will vary according to local need and resources. There is not a ‘one size fits all’ model to neighbourhood 
policing and partnerships will need to take into account the differing local circumstances that may exist 
across a partnership area.

In operational terms neighbourhood policing can be understood as:

•  An organisational strategy that allows the police, its partners and the public to work closely together 
to solve problems of  crime and disorder, and improve neighbourhood conditions and feelings of  
security;

• A mainstream policing activity and integrated with other policing services;
• Requiring evidence based deployment of  neighbourhood teams against identified need;
•  Establishes dedicated, identifiable, accessible, knowledgeable and responsive neighbourhood policing 

teams which provide all citizens with a named point of  access;
• Reflects local conditions and is flexible, responsive and adaptable;
•  Allows the police service to work directly with the local community to identify the problems that are 

most important to them, thereby giving people direct influence over local policing priorities;
• Establishes a regime for engaging other agencies and the public in problem solving mechanisms;
• Uses the National Intelligence Model as the basis for deployment;
•  Requires an effective engagement, communication and feedback strategy, and a clear explanation of  

where accountability lies; and
•  Should be subject to rigorous performance management including clear performance monitoring 

against a local plan and commitments made to neighbourhoods.
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Police and partners need to work with communities not only to make neighbourhoods free from crime and 
disorder, but also to make people feel safe in them.  However, community safety is not just a policing issue.  
Community safety issues can significantly influence the public’s perception of  the quality of  public service 
provision for example, dealing with abandoned vehicles, graffiti, or tackling nuisance neighbours can have a 
huge impact on the way the public judge the quality of  public services.  Working with communities to 
identify and resolve the problems that have the greatest impact on them can bring significant 
improvements to the sense of  community wellbeing and the perception of  the quality of  local services.  

Not all crime is local.  There are links between national and international threats and events and the impact 
that these can have on local communities, for example, people trafficking, prostitution, terrorism and 
serious and organised crime.  Appropriate delivery structures and processes should be in place at all levels 
of  delivery within the police and partner agencies to ensure that there is sufficient capacity to impact upon 
these broader issues effectively.

The National Reassurance Policing Programme (NRPP) introduced a form of  Neighbourhood Policing 
across 16 sites in England between 2003 – 2005.  The programme involved local communities in 
identifying crime and disorder issues in their neighbourhoods, which they then tackled together with the 
police and other public service providers and partners.

The evaluation of  the NRPP (published in January 2006) found the results of  the programme to be 
consistently positive.  The evidence showed that improvements in key outcomes such as levels of  crime, 
perceptions of  anti-social behaviour, and feelings of  safety after dark and public confidence in the police 
were directly attributable to the NRPP approach.  The programme also delivered significant improvements 
in trust amongst communities themselves.

When properly implemented, Neighbourhood Policing works to cut crime and anti-social behaviour and to 
increase public confidence.  The three critical elements were found to be:

•  The presence of  visible, accessible and locally known authority figures in neighbourhoods, in 
particular police officers and PCSOs;

• Community involvement in the process of  identifying priorities and taking action to deal with them; and
•  Targeted policing activity and problem solving to tackle crimes and disorder that matter most to local 

people.

Communities notice the difference when the police work directly on the problems prioritised by local 
people.  Involving individuals and communities in collaborative problem solving together with police and 
partners has a significant impact on perceptions of  safety.

Evidence shows that communities want local Neighbourhood Policing to tackle the issues that matter most 
to them.  Community engagement, which lies at the heart of  the approach, brings highly localised 
problems to the attention of  the police.  Neighbourhood Policing enables communities to determine the 
priorities for action.  When Neighbourhood Teams tackle these in partnership with communities and other 
local services neighbourhoods feel safer and are safer for those living and working in them.



121

C: Local Criminal Justice Boards 
The 42 Local Criminal Justice Boards (LCJBs) in England and Wales were established non-statutorily in 
2003 and are based on police force/criminal justice areas. Membership comprises chief  officers of  the 
police, crown prosecution, court, prison, probation and youth offending services. 

LCJBs are responsible for joining up the Criminal Justice System (CJS) at the local CJS area level and are 
increasingly involved in managing the change across the CJS.  They focus on improving the effectiveness 
of  the CJS by bringing more offences to justice, reducing ineffective trials, improving the experience of  
victims and witnesses, driving delivery of  the timeliness target in the Persistent Young Offenders (PYO) 
pledge, delivering the Prolific and other Priority Offender (PPO) CJS Premium Service, improving 
enforcement and increasing public confidence in the CJS.

There are many overlaps between the agendas of  community safety partnerships and LCJBs. They can 
work together to reinforce each other’s area of  work. Key areas of  common interest are:

• Public confidence;
• Support and services for victims; and
• Management of  offenders, including re-offending.

Other areas will be determined by local priorities. 

The creation of  the county strategy group (see L1 for further details) can support and facilitate closer joint 
working between community safety partnerships and LCJBs. It can enable the LCJB to make meaningful 
links with community safety partnerships that will influence district level partnerships at operational level, 
but to retain their strategic oversight to ensure efficient local delivery of  the CJS.
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D: The National Offender Management 
Service 
The National Offender Management Service (NOMS) was created in 2004 with the aim of  reducing re-
offending and protecting the public. NOMS, based within the Ministry of  Justice, comprises of  a number 
of  organisations including the prison and probation services, and is putting a system in place to deliver end-
to-end management of  offenders.

The organisation's key responsibilities are delivering a reduction in re-offending; protecting the public and 
the management of  offenders. The management of  offenders is devolved to nine regional offices in 
England and one office in Wales. The English regional offices are led by Regional Offender Managers.  The 
Wales office is led by a Director of  Offender Management.

These leaders are experts in the offending-related problems of  their local area and are responsible for:

• commissioning services for their region;
• developing a regional reducing re-offending delivery plan; and
• co-ordinating regional and local partnerships.

The cross-government National Reducing Re-offending Delivery Plan (NRRDP), launched in November 
2005, outlines the Government commitment on improving offenders’ access to mainstream services across 
the seven pathways as identified by the Social Exclusion Unit’s report on ‘Reducing Re-offending by ex-
Prisoners’ (2002):

• Accommodation;
• Employment and Skills;
• Children and Families;
• Finance, Benefit and Debt;
• Attitudes, Thinking and Behaviour;
• Drugs and Alcohol; and
• Health.

The nine regions in England, and Wales, have all developed strategies to take forward work on the 
pathways, with appropriate regional partners leading work on each of  the strands through their Regional 
Reducing Re-offending Partnership Boards. 

As the NRRDP was only designed to cover a period of  18 months, NOMS and partners have begun the 
process of  developing a new three year strategic plan to take into account the new cross government PSA 
targets on drugs, alcohol and social exclusion.  The plan will also need to promote the wider engagement 
of  partners; support the continued delivery of  offender management and the NOMS reform programme; 
and link to the CJS and wider government strategies. Key to its success will be its ability to drive effective 
local delivery.



123

E: Changes in the Local Delivery 
Landscape – The Offender Management 
Act 2007
The Offender Management Act (2007) aims to improve the delivery of  probation services to reduce re-
offending and better protect the public. It will do so by enabling the establishment of  probation trusts 
(replacing probation boards) and supporting the development of  the commissioning of  probation services 
in greater partnership with providers in the voluntary, charitable and private sectors. 

Commissioning will take place at national, regional, and local levels. The national commissioning and 
partnership framework will set out NOMS’ priorities for England and Wales. The national priorities will 
find expression in the regional commissioning and partnership plans, which will also reflect the Regional 
Reducing Re-offending Plans developed by the Regional Reducing Re-offending Partnership Boards. These 
commissioning plans will be developed in full consultation with regional and local providers, and 
sentencers.

Regional commissioners (Regional Offender Managers), acting on behalf  of  the Secretary of  State, will 
contract with lead providers for the delivery of  services in a probation area. The lead provider will 
concentrate on the delivery of  offender management, while sub-contracting much of  their interventions 
work to other providers based on what is most effective, and who is best placed to deliver, in their local 
community (known as local commissioning). 

Providing their performance meets the requirements, the lead provider in a probation area will be the 
public sector probation trust. Due to their local knowledge and relationships, Probation Trusts, as NOMS’ 
lead providers, have a critical role to play and will provide assistance in ensuring that access to mainstream 
local services are improved for offenders through both joint commissioning and partnership arrangements.
The Act creates a variety of  opportunities to strengthen further the relationship between community safety 
partnerships and NOMS in tackling re-offending:

•  Supporting Regional Offender Managers commission services to improve public protection and 
reducing re-offending at local level, for example through joint commissioning; 

•  Building effective partnerships with local agencies, voluntary groups and other local partnerships 
such as Local Criminal Justice Boards to tackle the social exclusion faced by offenders; and

•  Aligning resources to support securing effective services to tackle re-offending. This will require 
making the necessary links between reducing crime and reducing re-offending.
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F: Crime and Disorder Act Review
The Government announced a review of  the partnership provisions of  the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, 
as amended by the Police Reform Act 2002, in the police reform White Paper – Building Communities, 
Beating Crime – in November 2004. The review was conducted jointly by the representative bodies of  all 
the agencies with responsible authority status on partnerships, and included input via regional workshops 
from well over 400 practitioners and other stakeholders. Representatives of  other key central Government 
departments were also involved.

The partnership landscape had changed substantially since partnerships were first created in 1998, with the 
introduction of  Local Area Agreements and the changing role of  local government presenting new 
challenges for partnerships.  Changes in the Criminal Justice System and the delivery of  the police reform 
agenda also affected how partnerships did business. The review, therefore, was a timely piece of  work that 
would help ensure all partnerships were in a good position to adapt to a changing delivery landscape and 
take on any new challenges.   

The overall objective of  the review was to strengthen the visibility, responsiveness, accountability, 
membership and role of  local partnerships. The aim is to make them the most effective possible vehicle for 
tackling crime, anti-social behaviour and substance misuse.

The Home Office, the Local Government Association, the Association of  Chief  Police Officers and the 
Association of  Police Authorities worked together on the review between November 2004 and January 
2005. Over 450 key stakeholders and practitioners were consulted through four regional seminars and 
many contributed through e-questionnaires and submissions. 

The report of  the review findings was published in January 2006 (http://crimereduction.homeoffice.gov.
uk/partnerships60.htm) and led to the legislative changes in the Police and Justice Act 2006.

The Government Offices and the Home Office jointly arranged ten stakeholder consultation events 
around the country, followed by another two events arranged with the Welsh Assembly Government in 
Wales. These events sought views and information on the implementation of  the review findings and, 
specifically, what should be included in new legislation for partnerships.
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G: Composition of Partnerships
Responsible authorities have a statutory duty to work with other local agencies and organisations to 
develop and implement strategies to tackle crime and disorder including anti-social and other behaviour 
adversely affecting the local environment as well as the misuse of  drugs in their area. (s6, Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 as amended by s97 and s98 Police Reform Act 2002 and s1, Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005).

These statutory partnerships are known as Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) or 
Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) in Wales. 

The responsible authorities set out in s 5 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 are :

• police;
• police authorities; 
• local authorities;
• fire and rescue authorities;
• local health boards (LHBs) in Wales; and 
• primary care trusts (PCTs) in England (added on 30 April 2004).

Responsible authorities are under a statutory duty to ensure that the key agencies come together to work in 
partnership in a CDRP/CSP. They are required to work in co-operation with probation boards parish 
councils, NHS Trusts , NHS Foundation Trusts, proprietors of  independent schools and governing bodies 
of  an institution within the further education sector and to work closely with Drug Action Teams in two-
tier local authority areas and have developed integrated working arrangements in unitary authority areas. 
They are also expected to invite a range of  local private, voluntary, other public and community groups 
including the public to become involved in the strategy process.

While the term ‘partnership’ is applied to all those who sit round the table, legally, the responsible 
authorities are the only bodies or agencies under the duty to meet the new regulatory requirements. 

From 31 July 2007, Registered Social Landlords (in England) will be co-operating bodies with the 
responsible authorities of  community safety partnerships and the Environment Agency in England will 
become an invitee to participate with the responsible authorities in their functions on the partnership. The 
Welsh Assembly Government will be considering changing the status of  Registered Social Landlords and 
the Environment Agency in Wales later in the year.
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H: Partnerships and the National 
Intelligence Model
The National Intelligence Model (NIM) is the intelligence-led business process that is statutory for all 
police forces in England and Wales to use.

Partnerships may find it sensible to adopt aspects of  the NIM model as a framework for partnership 
working to facilitate a joint approach with their police partners. This appendix outlines how a partnership 
may adopt aspects of  NIM to structure their business and meet the Hallmarks set out in this Guidance.

The use of  NIM ensures that activity to reduce crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour and substance misuse 
is delivered in a targeted manner through the collection and analysis of  information, which is used to guide 
activity. The model involves identifying, understanding and addressing underlying problems and trends 
through the use of  analysis, and is then used to prioritise issues, based on risk, and allocate resources to deal 
with them.

The NIM process is introduced in the following diagram and further explained in sections 1.1 – 1.11.

1.1 Knowledge Assets

The four assests are the building blocks that are the foundation of  the model. Within the partnership, it is 
important that all staff  involved in agreeing priorities and carrying out activity to deal with them have the 
professional knowledge to work effectively and to understand the processes within which they work, 
including an understanding of  the role and use of  intelligence.

1.2 System Assets

Within the partnership, it is important that there are systems in place to ensure the lawful sharing of  
information and the secure storage and use of  information once it has been shared, according to the new 
Information Sharing Regulations. 

1.3 Source Assets

Within the partnership, it is important that the staff  responsible for producing the strategic assessment and 
partnership plan are aware of  the different types of  information available to them, how they are collected, 
evaluated, and used.

1.4 People Assets

Within the partnership, it is important that all staff  involved in agreeing priorities and carrying out activity 
to deal with them know their roles and responsibilities in relation to NIM. It is also important that staff  are 
properly trained to carry out these roles and responsibilities.

More information on all the roles and responsibilities required to make NIM work can be found in 
ACPO(2007) Practice Advice on Resources and the People Assets of  NIM.
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1.5 Information sources

The first stage of  the NIM process is to ensure that appropriate information sources are available.  
The minimum standards contribute to performance in this area by creating a duty to share certain types of  
information (G2) and by describing the kinds of  information that should be used within a strategic 
assessment (A1). The minimum standards also describe the need for community consultation and the 
possible process to be used (G3).

1.6 Intelligence/Information Recording

The NIM sets out standards for the recording on information so that is available for use to help make 
strategic and tactical decisions. This element of  NIM is unlikely to apply to partnerships adopting its use. 
The majority of  information used by the partnership will be recorded and collected by the member 
organisations. If  the partnership do begin to record and collect their own information there should be 
appropriate management processes in place.

1.7 Research, Development and Analysis

This element of  the NIM is core to the success of  an intelligence-led business process. It is at this stage in 
the process where a wide variety of  information is brought together and given meaning. Critical links and 
associations between bits of  information are made and inferences are drawn. This work is carried out in an 
intelligence unit. Within a partnership, an intelligence unit could be made up of  a combination of  
researchers, to develop information, and analysts. For analysts and/or researchers to carry out their jobs 
effectively they must have easy access to the information that the partnership has collected. They must also 
have access to open source, or public access information.

The Hallmarks contribute to performance in this area by outlining the analytical contribution to strategic 
assessments (A2).

More information about the work of  analysts can be found in ACPO (forthcoming) Practice Advice for 
Analysis. Although a document aimed for analysts working for the police, it has been designed to be equally 
applicable to analysts working within a partnership environment.

1.8 Intelligence Products

Within NIM there are four intelligence products. The following table shows the four intelligence products 
and how they could be used within a partnership environment.
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Strategic assessment Drives the business of  the strategy group meeting.

Aids and supports strategic business planning and resource allocation.

Informs the strategy group of  the issues likely to affect the partnership in 
the coming year and recommends which should be a priority.

Assists the agreement of  partnership priorities.
Tactical assessment Drives the business of  the partnership tasking and co-ordination group 

(where the partnership has set one up).

Assists and supports tactical planning and resource allocation to resolve 
problems.

Informs the tasking and co-ordination group of  the current problems that 
link to the priority areas and makes proposals for continued prevention/
reduction activity.

Ensures tactical activity is aligned to the agreed partnership priorities.
Subject profile Establishes a greater understanding of  either a person or group of  people 

(whether suspects, victims or witnesses) in relation to an identified problem 
and a record of  activity for tactical opportunities to resolve the problem. For 
example a profile of  a family causing anti-social behaviour and the activity 
taken to prevent and reduce their behaviour and its impact on the 
community.

Problem profile Establishes a greater understanding of  an identified problem and a record 
of  activity for tactical opportunities to resolve the problem. For example a 
profile of  a problem of  youths drinking on a playground and the activity 
taken to reduce and prevent their behaviour and its impact on the 
community.

The Hallmarks contribute to performance in this area by making it a statutory obligation for each 
partnership to produce a strategic assessment (A2).

1.9 Tasking and Co-ordination

It is the tasking and co-ordination process that provides partnership leaders with a decision-making 
mechanism by which they can manage the business of  the partnership strategically and tactically.

Within a partnership, the strategy group will carry out strategic tasking and co-ordination. The strategy 
group are responsible for setting the priorities that the partnership will work to and making individuals 
responsible for delivery in each area. The strategy group are ultimately responsible for the performance of  
the partnership, especially in the areas identified as priorities.

Partnerships could also set up a tasking and co-ordination group to manage the tactical delivery of  
priorities. The tasking and co-ordination group could be informed by a tactical assessment. (See D1 for 
further details of  this)
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The minimum standards contribute to performance in this area by setting out the governance 
arrangements for the strategy group (G1). This guidance also provides advice on how tasking and co-
ordination groups can manage tactical delivery (D1).

Further information about how to set up and run tasking and co-ordination meetings can be found in 
ACPO (2006) Practice Advice on Tasking and Co-ordination.

1.10 Tactical Resolution

This element refers to the actual activity that takes place to resolve problems. Within a partnership activity 
to resolve problems may be undertaken by a wide range of  people. Partnerships can use problem solving 
creatively and to use a wide range of  resources ensuring that prevention, further information collection, 
enforcement and community reassurance are key pillars to any planned activity.

Problems will range in scope and scale. A large problem may be broken down into smaller problems or 
projects. Regardless of  the scale or scope of  a problem or project each should be clearly owned by a named 
individual who should be held accountable for the progress of  the problem or project through the tasking 
and co-ordination process.

Some problems will be supported by a problem profile and one or more subject profiles. Others will be 
supported with some simple problem solving analysis using SARA or PROCTOR. In all cases there must 
be clear records of  the planned activity and use of  resources and the outcome of  all activity. Without clear 
records it is difficult to co-ordinate activity across the partnership or to measure the success of  outcomes.

This guidance also provides advice on addressing problems (D2).

1.11 Operational Review

Operational review is an essential element of  any intelligence-led business processes. It ensures that lessons 
are learnt from activity that has taken place and that they are retained for future use to improve outcomes. 
A review should be a genuine assessment of  the successes and failures of  activity.

This guidance provides advice on how effectiveness can be evaluated in (D3).

More information on operational review and results analysis can be found in all of  ACPO NIM products.
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I: Local Strategic Partnerships and Local 
Area Agreements
ENGLAND

Local Strategic Partnerships are non-statutory, multi-agency partnerships. They bring together at a local 
level the different parts of  the public, private, community and voluntary sectors; allowing different 
intiatives and services to support one another so that they can work together more effectively. Local 
Strategic Partnerships are not single organisations, but a “family” of  partnerships and/or themed sub-
groups. How individual Local Strategic Partnerships are structured is down to local determination.

Local Area Agreements

Local Area Agreements set out the priorities for a local area agreed between central government and a local 
area (the local authority and Local Strategic Partnership) and other key partners at the local level. Local 
Area Agreements simplify some central funding, help join up public services more effectively and allow 
greater flexibility for local solutions to local circumstances. 

Local Area Agreements are structured around four blocks (or policy fields): children and young people, 
safer and stronger communities, healthier communities and older people, and economic development and 
enterprise.

Local Area Agreements are subject to an annual refresh, which should coincide with the new strategic 
assessments which partnerships will now carry out. The three year cycle of  a Local Area Agreement should 
also coincide with that of  partnership plans for community safety partnerships. The priorities decided on 
by your partnership should therefore inform those which go into the Local Area Agreement. The process 
for doing so will vary according to each area, so partnerships should make themselves aware of  local 
arrangements. The local government white paper, “Strong and Prosperous Communities” states that in 
agreeing the Local Area Agreement, partners should have regard to key local plans, which will include the 
strategic assessments and partnership plans produced by community safety partnerships.

In two-tier areas, the responsibility for Local Area Agreements sits at the county level. Under the proposals 
set out in the White paper, county authorities will be under a duty to consult and involve districts when 
drawing up their Local Area Agreements. This links in with the requirement under the legislation for 
district level community safety partnerships to identify priorities for inclusion in the county-wide Local 
Area Agreement. The county strategy group as set out in the legislation will be the key means of  linking the 
work of  district level community safety partnerships into county-wide Local Area Agreements.



131

Diagrams - England

This diagram shows an example of  structures and processes in two-tier areas. There is obviously flexibility 
within these arrangements, but it demonstrates how the structures should enable district level priorities to 
both feed into and be informed by the Local Area Agreement (LAA). It also demonstrates how the county-
level group can facilitate closer working between district community safety partnerships.

The below diagram shows an example of  structures and processes in a unitary area. There is obviously 
flexibility within these arrangements but it demonstrates how the structures should enable priorities to 
both feed into and be informed by the Local Area Agreement (LAA).  
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J: Information Sharing Regulations
Details of  the information sets that must be shared on at least a quarterly basis are given below. In each 
case, the duty applies to information relating to the partnership area as defined by the district or unitary 
authority area. This duty only applies when the authority holds the information so it does not require the 
collection of  any additional information. The purpose of  sharing this information is to enable the profiling 
of  crime and disorder trends and patterns within the area. For this reason, in most cases, it is the record 
level data that is specified rather than aggregate data or statistics. Analysis can then take place across a 
number of  different datasets on at least a quarterly basis.

Organisation Datasets (for the area)
Police force 1. Records on anti-social behaviour, transport and public safety/welfare incidents 

recorded according to the National Incident Category List. Whatever information is 
recorded about the time, date, location and category of  each incident must be 
disclosed.  

2. Crime records recorded according to the Notifiable Offences list. Whatever 
information is recorded about the time, date, location and sub-category of  each crime 
must be disclosed.

Fire and rescue 
authority

3. Records on deliberate fires, whether it was a deliberate primary fire (not in a 
vehicle), a deliberate secondary fire (not in a vehicle) or a deliberate fire in a vehicle. 
In addition, records on incidents of  violence against employees and records of  
fires attended in dwellings where no smoke alarm was fitted. For all these records, 
whatever information is recorded about the time, date and location of  the fire must 
be shared. 

4. Records on malicious false alarms. Whatever information is recorded about the 
time and date of  each call and the purported location of  those alarms must be 
shared.

Local authority 5. Records on road traffic collisions. Whatever information is recorded about the 
time, date, location and the number of  adults and children killed, seriously injured 
and slightly injured in each road traffic collision must be shared.

6. Records on fixed term and permanent school exclusions. Whatever 
information is held about the age and gender of  the pupil, the name and address of  
the school from which they were excluded and the reasons for their exclusion must 
be shared. 

7.  Records of  racial incidents. Whatever information is held about the time, date 
and location of  each incident must be shared.

8. Records of  anti-social behaviour incidents identified by the authority or 
reported by the public. Whatever information is held about the category, time, date 
and location of  each incident must be shared.
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Organisation Datasets (for the area)
Primary Care 
Trust (lying 
entirely or partly 
in the area)

9. Records on various categories of  hospital admissions. The relevant admissions 
are those relating to the following blocks within the International Classification of  
Diseases: 

 a) assault (X85-Y09); 

 b) mental and behavioural disorders due to psychoactive substance use (F10- 
 F19);

 c) toxic effect of  alcohol (T51); and

 d) other entries where there is evidence of  alcohol involvement determined by  
 blood alcohol level (Y90) or evidence of  alcohol involvement determined by  
 level of  intoxication (Y91).For each record, whatever information is held about  
 the date of  the admission, the sub-category of  the admission and the outward  
 part of  the postcode (the first part of  the postcode, before the space which  
 separates it from the second part) of  the patient’s address must be shared.

10. Records of  admissions to hospital in respect of domestic abuse. Whatever 
information is held about the date of  the admission and the outward part of  the 
postcode of  the patient’s address must be shared.

11. Numbers of  mental illness outpatient first attendances and persons 
receiving drug treatment. 

12. Records of  ambulance call outs to crime and disorder incidents. Whatever 
information is held about the category, time, date and location of  each ambulance call 
out must be shared.    
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K: Worked Example
How the new business process might work:

Leadership established at district and county level.

Information-sharing Protocol agreed and signed by all responsible 
authorities and other agencies.

Information Shared, both depersonalised information sets included in new legislation, 
information gathered from community and additional information.

 

Community consulted about their priorities.

Strategic Assessment conducted to identify crime issues.

Priorities identified, for e.g. street crime, and escalated to county-level group in two-tier areas – 
passed to Local Strategic Partnership for possible inclusion in Local Area Agreement.

Partnership Plan produced to outline how to deliver on priorities in coming year and 
three years, e.g. accessing funding through Local Area Agreement (Safer and Stronger Communities and 
other blocks).

Summary of Partnership Plan published, outlining steps that will be taken 
to deliver on priorities and consult communities.

Delivery Structure considered, e.g. setting up an action group to deal with street crime, 
or city centre issues.
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Further Analysis of  individual priorities, using depersonalised and personal information 
shared between partners, to further define the problem and establish baselines e.g. the street crime, action 
group may identify that students walking along a particular street in the evening are one group of  victims 
and that the majority of  offenders are already known within the criminal justice system.

Tactical Options considered e.g. the street crime, action group may consider running an 
information campaign through the local university, focusing on rehabilitation of  offenders once they are 
released from prison, or improving street-lighting. The solutions are chosen will depend on the precise 
problems identified through analysis, but should consider the role that can be played by other agencies, 
including those from the criminal justice system.

Governance within the action group agreed e.g. deciding responsibility for actions, a meeting 
structure, 6 monthly and annual targets and how to report to relevant partners.

Evaluation of  initiatives on an ongoing basis to ensure real improvements e.g. reductions in 
street crime, and ensuring crime is not simply being displaced elsewhere.

Leadership within partnership to monitor progress on reductions in street crime, e.g. 
considering number of  street crime, incidents at quarterly meetings, involving representatives of  the 
criminal justice agencies at meetings.

Strategic Assessment following year to reassess priorities e.g to identify whether 
street crime, should still be a priority.

Refresh Partnership Plan outlining what will be done to address new priorities, 
e.g. whether more will be done to address street crime.

Publish Summary of Plan in order to report back to community on progress 
e.g. reductions in street crime.
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Hallmark Case Study Page 
Empowered & 
Effective Leadership

East Sussex - Merging the DAAT and County Community Safety 
Support Teams

26

Hounslow CDRP – working with NOMS / ROMS 29
Wrexham and Flintshire CSP – Joint Action Groups (JAGs) 89
Safer Southwark Partnership – Camberwell Street Drinking Initiative 96

Intelligence-led 
Business Processes

Safer Southwark Partnership – The Partnership Operations Group 
(POG) 

41

Coventry Consortium of  Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) & 
Coventry CDRP

39

Dudley CSP - Using information from the Fire Services 55
Birmingham CSP -Analysing intelligence to determine priorities 64
Cornwall and the Isles of  Scilly Community Safety Partnership - 
Producing a strategic assessment that works at both county and 
CDRP-level 

69

Preston CSP – Preventing alcohol-related crime 87
Safer Southwark Partnership – Camberwell Street Drinking Initiative 96
Humberside Association of  Neighbourhood Watch Groups - 
Community Problem Solving Kit

99

Hounslow CSP - A problem-solving project with built in evaluation 
processes

104

Safer Middlesbrough Partnership (SMP) 105
Effective & 
Responsive Delivery 
Structures

Hounslow CDRP – working with NOMS / ROMS 29

West Sussex County – Successful and supportive County/District 
relationships

40

Safer Southwark Partnership – The Partnership Operations Group 
(POG) 

41

Wrexham and Flintshire CSP – Joint Action Groups 89
Humberside Association of  Neighbourhood Watch Groups – 
Community Problem Solving Kit

99

L: Index of Case Studies
This table will help you identify where relevant case studies are for each of  the Hallmarks of  an Effective 
Partnership.
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Hallmark Case Study Page 
Engaged 
Communities

Liverpool - Respect Weeks of  Action 47

Preston CSP – Preventing alcohol-related crime 87
Barking & Dagenham – “Focus Weeks” in the Gascoigne Estate 92
North Somerset CDRP - Sparkplug Projects 93
Safer Southwark Partnership – Camberwell Street Drinking Initiative 96
Humberside Association of  Neighbourhood Watch Groups – 
Community Problem Solving Kit

99

Hounslow CSP - A problem-solving project with built in evaluation 
processes

104

Visible & 
Constructive 
Accountability

Policing summaries in Leicestershire - Communicating plans to the 
public

83

Safer Southwark Partnership – Camberwell Street Drinking Initiative 96
Appropriate Skills 
and Knowledge

Safer Blaenau Gwent – Developing local training products 32

North East - ISCAN - Internal Review of  Services and Skills 33
Coventry Consortium of  Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) & 
Coventry CDRP

39
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